IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEFFREY BENKO, A NEVADA RESIDENT; ET Al.,

Appellants,

v. QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION, A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION; ET AL., Respondents Supreme Court No. 73484 District Court Case Noctronically Filed Mar 08 2018 10:52 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court Clark County, Nevada

The Honorable William Kephart

Law Office of Nicholas A. Boylan, APC

Nicholas A. Boylan, Esq., Nevada Bar No. 5878 233 A Street, Suite 1205 San Diego, CA 92101 Telephone: (619) 696-6344 Facsimile: (619) 696-0478 Attorney for Appellants

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The written judgment appealed from was entered on June 7, 2017. Written notice of entry of this final judgment was served electronically on June 8, 2017. Pursuant to NRAP 4(a), Plaintiffs timely filed their notice of appeal of this written judgment on July 5, 2017.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(11), this Court presumptively retains this matter, as it raises a question of statewide public importance as a principal issue, concerning the possible interplay of Nevada's non-judicial foreclosure statutes (in NRS Chapter 107) and statutes regulating claim collection agencies in Nevada (in NRS Chapter 649). The case raises a substantial issue of first impression and an issue of public policy: Whether entities that qualify as collection agencies under NRS 649.020(1) are exempt from compliance with the license requirements of NRS Chapter 649 solely because they carry out their claim collection activities while purporting to act as non-judicial foreclosure trustees under deeds of trust pursuant to NRS Chapter 107. This Court has not yet addressed this important question. Given the significant harms unlicensed collection agency activities have caused in Nevada for at least the last decade, and that this case is a putative class action seeking remedies and injunctive state-wide relief that would be applicable to tensof-thousands of Nevadans, resolution of this substantial issue of first impression

will require consideration of important public policies in Nevada that will have consequences throughout the Silver State, affecting tens of thousands of Nevadans.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. Whether, as a matter of law under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure ("NRCP") 12(b)(5), Defendants were exempted from compliance with the licensure and regulatory requirements found in NRS Chapter 649 simply because they carried out their extensive collection agency activities (which included collecting money for pay-off and reinstatement of defaulted loans, negotiating and executing forbearance agreements on defaulted loans with Nevada debtors, telephonic communications with Nevada debtors regarding collection of the defaulted loans, receiving and forwarding collected money to lenders, and sending written communications to Nevada debtors in which Defendants <u>admitted</u> they were debt collectors attempting to collect debts) while purporting to also act as trustees.

B. Whether, assuming the facts alleged (and proven in summary judgment filings) in the operative complaint to be true, Defendants engaged in claim collection agency activities in Nevada against Plaintiffs at a time when Defendants did not hold a license to do so, pursuant to NRS 649.075, or, in the alternative, did not register as a foreign collection agency, pursuant to NRS 649.171.

C. Whether, as a matter of law, Plaintiffs stated causes of action against Defendants for violation of Nevada's Deceptive Trade Practices Act, including NRS 598.0923(1), based on Defendants' unlicensed claim collection agency activities in Nevada against Plaintiffs.

D. Whether, as a matter of law, Plaintiffs have stated causes of action against Defendants for unjust enrichment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This putative class action was filed in Nevada state court in October 2011 by Nevadans subject to Defendants' illegal collection agency activities and communications. (AA000005-AA000013.) Plaintiffs bring claims for statutory consumer fraud under NRS 41.600 and unjust enrichment on behalf of themselves and similarly-situated Nevadans. (AA004065-AA004224.) Defendants engaged in collection agency activities on lenders' behalf, seeking to collect and collecting on defaulted loans. (Id.) When doing so, Defendants lacked the license required by Nevada law to conduct debt collection agency activities in Nevada, and had not registered as foreign collection agencies with the Nevada Financial Institutions Division ("FID")'s Commissioner. (Id.) During their illegal and unlicensed Nevada collection agency activities, Defendants received and were unjustly enriched with illicit fees and costs (estimated at or above a quarter billion dollars), which amounts lenders added to their debt-claims against Nevadans, based on defaulted loans. (*Id.*)

Defendants removed the case to federal court, where it was eventually dismissed under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). (AA000032-AA000068.) The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed this dismissal in 2015, and remanded the case back with instructions to return it to Nevada state court. (AA000038-AA000069; *Benko v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp.* (9th Cir. 2015) 789 F.3d 1111.)

In late 2015, the Nevada trial court permitted Plaintiffs to file their Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"). (AA000088-AA000228.) Defendants moved to dismiss the case under NRCP 12(b)(5). (AA000229-AA000782.) In February 2016, Judge Scann orally denied Defendants' motion as to Plaintiffs' first and second causes of action. (AA000783-AA000826.) The parties conducted very limited discovery for approximately a year, during which Plaintiffs filed no less than 15 motions to compel discovery, virtually all of which were granted at least in part. (See AA000846-AA001031.) No written order on Defendants' motion to dismiss was entered, partly due to Judge Scann's untimely death in July 2016. (See AA000910, AA004012.) The Discovery Commissioner struggled with the lack of a written order, and eventually suggested Plaintiffs seek clarification from the trial court. (AA000923, AA000927-AA000928.) She also suggested phasing of discovery likely did not make sense in light of the evidence. (See AA001006-AA001007, at 24-3.) Plaintiffs sought clarification from the trial court, which prompted it to consider dismissing the case as a matter of law under NRCP 12(b)(5). (See AA004012-AA004015.) After supplemental briefing was submitted at its request, the trial court formally dismissed Plaintiffs' claims as a matter of law pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). (AA005642-AA005658.)

I. INTRODUCTION

Based on the Third Amended Complaint ("TAC")'s allegations, and the voluminous evidence in the record, it is absolutely certain Defendants conducted a \$300 million unlicensed Nevada business operation collecting debts (*i.e.*, claims), from at least 2007 to 2012. (*See, e.g.*, NRS 649.020.) The question presented by the trial court's order (hereafter "Order") is whether Defendants were "protected" (the trial court's terminology) from compliance with NRS Chapter 649, and the FID's entire regulatory scheme for debt collectors, simply because, after borrowers defaulted, Defendants became substitute 'non-judicial foreclosure trustees' ("trustees") as part of their dual¹ business model for claim collecting.

This Opening Brief presents the law and the facts conclusively demonstrating Defendants are debt collectors that are not "protected" from adherence to Nevada's debt collection regulatory scheme. The erroneous judgment must be reversed, according to unambiguous Nevada law, and the overwhelming majority of analogous appellate decisions from across the entire nation. Affirming the judgment would invite rogue and foreign collection agencies to trample Nevadans with no regulatory oversight, and would gut the FID's important protective functions.

¹ Because their lender-market, *i.e.*, clientele, wanted full service, Defendants combined two distinct and legally conflicting businesses into one operation.

A. Judge Kephart's True Reasoning Is Reflected in the Hearing Transcripts of March 14, 2017, and May 4, 2017 (Not the Fallacious Written Order Defendants Prepared)

The trial court's true reasoning and opinion that a foreign debt collection agency which is also serving as a trustee can do or perform any debt collection act, while unlicensed, unregulated and without any oversight by the FID, so long as the conduct is not quasi-criminal, is best reflected by its comments at the March 14, 2017, and May 4, 2017 hearings. (AA004036-AA004038.) The trial court gave examples of what it believed debt-collecting trustees could not do, such as physically arrest and take possession of debtors, take debtors' vehicles and clothing. (Id.) The trial court indicated operators of unlicensed debt collection businesses could send individuals to knock on debtors' doors and demand payment so long as they did so under a "trustee" title: "But when it comes to the house itself they can say, hey, you know, you owe me \$100,000 on this. How are you going to pay? Are you going to pay it? If you are not going to pay it, I am going to come get it." (AA004037, at 28:14-17.)

At the May 4, 2017 hearing, the trial court relied on an unpublished Nevada federal district court order, *Bruce v. Homefield Fin., Inc.* (D. Nev. September 23, 2011) 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 110243, and NRS 80.015 (and two statutes said to be

analogous by the trial court, *i.e.*, NRS 86.5483 and NRS 87A.615). (AA005601-AA005623.) Reliance on these inapplicable legal authorities was error.

B. The Defense-Drafted Written Order Improperly Remanufactured Judge Kephart's Ruling

After the March 14, 2017 hearing, all counsel expected Judge Kephart was going to dismiss the case under NRCP 12(b)(5) at the hearing on May 4, 2017. Defense counsel brought to the second hearing a proposed order designed specifically to misdirect review of the dismissal order in this Court. (*See* AA005626-AA005628.) The proposed order's content bore little resemblance to Judge Kephart's true ruling or reasoning. (*See* AA005631.) At the hearing, Plaintiffs objected the defense draft was "simply meant to pervert the record for the Supreme Court," and the trial court said, "I don't necessarily disagree with you. I have not read through it completely, but the reason I've raised the issue is that I think it's simpler than this." (AA005632.) Plaintiffs objected to any perversion of the record. (AA005631-AA005633.)

It is unclear why the trial court later signed the Order drafted by Defendants, but nevertheless the numerous defects are delineated specifically in Plaintiffs' May 23, 2017 letter brief to Judge Kephart. (*See* AA005639-AA005641.)

///

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The trial court dismissed Plaintiffs' TAC, under NRCP 12(b)(5).

(AA005642-AA005658.) Paragraphs 25 through 31 of the TAC are most critically relevant to Plaintiffs' appeal. (AA004081-AA004084.) In Paragraphs 25 through 28, Plaintiffs allege Defendants Quality Loan Service Corporation ("QLS"), MTC Financial, Inc. dba Trustee Corps ("MTC"), California Reconveyance Company ("CRC"), and National Default Servicing Corporation ("NDSC") together received approximately \$300 million dollars of illicit fees and costs from Nevadans, from 2007 to 2012. (*Id.*) Paragraph 29 alleges Plaintiffs' debts were increased by the dollar amounts of the illegal payments Defendants received for their prohibited Nevada business activities. (AA004081-AA004082.) Paragraphs 1 through 15 also contain debt collector allegations and admissions by Defendants. (AA004066-AA004078.)

Paragraph 30 makes clear, "Defendants' business in Nevada and their activities in Nevada were <u>not</u> strictly limited to filing and serving a Notice of Default and filing and serving a Notice of Sale." (AA004082.) As alleged, Defendants' Nevada business activities as collection agencies included, without limitation, pursuing claim collection, in writing and/or by phone, through (1) reinstatement or pay-off of defaulted debts, (2) forbearance agreements for defaulted debts, (3) or loan modification agreements; or (4) requesting and/or

directing payment on defaulted claims; receiving and collecting millions of dollars from Nevadans with respect to defaulted claims; forwarding monies collected from Nevadans on defaulted claims to Defendants' client lenders and/or loan servicers; pursuing claim collection through acquisition of security for defaulted debts, and thus making collection of claims that included security, and forwarding cash proceeds to lenders. (*Id.*)

Paragraph 31 alleges Defendants, in doing their illegal Nevada debt collection agency activities, were acting on behalf of third-party lenders and/or loan servicers. (AA004082-AA004084.) Upon default, lenders, *i.e.*, beneficiaries, declared all sums owed on the respective promissory notes for each Plaintiff and secured by a corresponding deed of trust, due and payable, and elected to have the respective homes sold to pay towards the defaulted loans. (Id.) Defendants then conducted their collection activities. (Id.) The lenders declared the respective loans were in default when referring the files to Defendants for collection. (Id.) Defendants told Plaintiffs their properties would be sold to satisfy their debts unless they could either remit the pay-off amount on the loans or the past due amounts owed to cure delinquency. (Id.) Defendants earlier and initially solicited and obtained the opportunity to act as trustees or agents of beneficiaries or trustees for deeds of trust, and did so for Nevada properties owned by Nevadans. (Id.) Defendants solicited and obtained the right to solicit and obtain partial and/or

reinstatement payments/pay-off amounts on loans, on lenders' behalf, as part of Defendants' activities to collect claims and/or debts from Plaintiffs. (*Id.*) Defendants issued notices to Plaintiffs as part of these debt collection activities, which notices stated in whole and/or in-part, and/or to the effect that: **"This is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose."** (*Id.*) Defendants' notices provided reinstatement and/or pay-off amounts relative to defaulted loans and further stated generally or to the effect that Plaintiff class members should send a cashier's check payable to Defendants and submit payments directly to Defendants' accounting offices. (*Id.*)

Defendants sent debt validation notices to Plaintiffs which stated generally, and/or in whole or in-part to the effect that: "We are attempting to collect a debt, and any information we obtain will be used for that purpose." (*Id.*) Defendants periodically issued wire instructions to Plaintiffs regarding their defaulted loans such that Plaintiffs could make payments on debts to Defendants. (*Id.*)

When Defendants received money from Plaintiffs as part of their collection activities, Defendants would forward amounts received to servicers or lenders for whom they were acting, as payment on outstanding, defaulted debts. (*Id.*) When Defendants sold Plaintiffs' property at foreclosure auction as part of their collection agency activities, Defendants would send the full amount of the sales price, *i.e.*, the money Defendants collected, to the lenders for whom Defendants collected the debts. (Id.)

The exhibits attached to, and thereby incorporated into, the TAC constitute factual allegations against Defendants, to be considered by this Court. (See NRCP 10(c); Baxter v. Dignity Health (2015) 357 P.3d 927, 930-931; Zohar v. Zbiegien (2014) 334 P.3d 402, 404-405.) Many of these exhibits constitute Defendants' flat admissions they were debt collectors and attempting to collect debts. Exhibit "C" establishes QLS was seeking to execute its business of claim collection by any means helpful to the lenders, including a payment for an extension, loan modification, deed in lieu of foreclosure, receipts of full payment necessary to bring the loan current, *i.e.*, reinstatement, etc. (AA004101-AA004102.) Exhibit "AA" demonstrates NDSC was seeking to collect the funds itself, by means of a certified check payable to NDSC, on behalf of the lender. (AA004182-AA004185.) Exhibits "FF" and "GG" demonstrate MTC, on behalf of its lender-client, negotiated receipt of payment and a forbearance agreement from one of the Plaintiffs. (AA004205-AA004214; AA004078-AA004079, at ¶¶16-18.)

A. Despite Severe Restrictions, and Defendants' Obstruction, Plaintiffs Assembled Voluminous Evidence PROVING Defendants Engaged in Extensive Unlicensed Nevada Claim Collection Activities

Over Plaintiffs' repeated objections, the Discovery Commissioner imposed strict limitations on all discovery Plaintiffs attempted to obtain for about a year,

until the case was dismissed.² (*See* AA000846-AA001031.) Before dismissal, based on the evidence gathered, Plaintiffs were able to move for partial summary judgment against MTC, and oppose QLS, CRC, and MTC's summary judgment motions. (AA002525-AA003506; AA003537-AA003978; AA003998-AA004009; AA004659-AA005599.) (NDSC did not seek summary judgment.) In these filings, Plaintiffs described, assembled, and submitted overwhelming evidence, in the form of documentation and testimony, showing Defendants engaged in multifarious, unlicensed Nevada claim collection activities, targeting thousands of Nevadans, and taking for themselves hundreds of millions of dollars of revenue as a result of their illicit conduct, as Plaintiffs allege. (*Id.*)

Plaintiffs' summary judgement evidence provides a convenient and necessary tool for this Court to review the facts exemplifying Defendants' illicit claim collection. The Separate Statements of Facts Plaintiffs submitted provide an excellent summary of the evidence for this Court. Record citations for these critical documents include the following: Plaintiffs' Separate Statements of Facts in opposition to (1) MTC's summary judgment motion (AA003881-AA003897); (2) QLS' summary judgment motion (AA005079-AA005103); and (3) CRC's summary judgment motion (AA004718-AA004736); and in support of Plaintiffs' partial summary judgment motion against MTC (AA003041-AA003055).

² Defendants were entirely uncooperative, so Plaintiffs had to file approximately 16 motions to compel in about a year.

<u>This Court must consider the massive summary judgment evidence in the</u> <u>record because Judge Kephart's NRCP 12(b)(5) dismissal order can only be</u> <u>affirmed on a record where it appears beyond a doubt that Plaintiffs can prove no</u> <u>set of facts entitling them to relief</u>. (*Zohar, supra*, 333 P.3d at 402.) The abovecited Separate Statements of Facts, and the exhibits thereto, provide a sampling of the facts demonstrating Defendants' Nevada business of debt/claim collection, with examples as to particular Defendants.³

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is about simple and sensible interpretation of plain statutory language barring unlicensed, foreign collection agencies from conducting debt collection agency activities in Nevada without obtaining required licenses and regulatory supervision from the FID. The trial court concluded Defendants' unlicensed Nevada collection activities could not, as a matter of law, make them liable for statutory consumer fraud and unjust enrichment. To reach this incorrect result, the trial court erroneously concluded Defendants were somehow exempt from NRS Chapter 649 licensure or otherwise protected by NRS Chapter 107, because they conducted their collection activities while purporting to serve as trustees.

³ These detailed factual allegations could be added to a fourth amended complaint if this Court so indicates.

The trial court erroneously relied upon Nevada statutes that were not applicable or actually <u>contradicted</u> the trial court. NRS 80.015, NRS 86.5483, and NRS 87A.615, cited in the Order, by their terms do <u>not</u> exempt Defendants from needing to obtain collection agency licenses. These statutes expressly forbid their use for any such defense. The trial court erroneously relied on an unpublished federal trial court order construing NRS 80.015, even though the statutory language, and this Court's interpretation of it, made clear the trial court's interpretation was incorrect.

NRS Chapter 649's plain language and legislative history show the Nevada collection activities Defendants performed are collection of claims (*i.e.*, debts) under NRS 649.020. Plaintiffs' allegations and the <u>voluminous</u> evidence they presented to the trial court show Defendants engaged in Nevada claim collection agency activities when they were not licensed by the FID to do so. In carrying out these activities, Defendants regularly admitted in writing they were debt collectors seeking to collect debts.

The trial court did not dispute Plaintiffs' allegations or evidence that Defendants were in the unlicensed claim collection business, but erroneously ruled Defendants were nonetheless "protected" or exempt from liability by unspecified provisions of NRS Chapter 107. Absolutely nothing in NRS Chapter 107 "protects" or exempts Defendants from being collection agencies subject to FID

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