#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEFFREY BENKO, a Nevada resident, et al..

Appellants,

VS.

QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION, a California Corporation, et al.,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No. 73484

Electronically Filed
Eighth Judicial District May w9 2018 03:07 p.m.
Case No. A-11-64987 Flizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

On Appeal from an Order Dismissing Case as A Matter of Law and Directing Judgment in Defendants' Favor with Prejudice in Connection with Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint

## RESPONDENT CALIFORNIA RECONVEYANCE COMPANY'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both of Plaintiffs' claims rest upon two fundamental premises, each of which is necessary to sustain Plaintiffs' claims, and both of which are fatally and irremediably defective as a matter of law. The first is the proposition that a trustee under a deed of trust, duly appointed and operating under the trust deed regulatory system under NRS Chapter 107, *also* must possess a collection agency license from the Commissioner of the Financial Institutions Division ("FID"), under NRS Chapter 649, in order to act in the capacity of trustee. The second is that, if a person acts in the capacity of trustee under a deed of trust without possessing a collection agency license, any fees received for services actually rendered are "illicit" and constitute damages to the Plaintiffs that must be disgorged. Both of

these propositions are incorrect as a matter of law in ways that no further pleading or discovery can cure. Accordingly, the district court properly dismissed Plaintiffs' claims. This Court should affirm that dismissal.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This Court rigorously reviews orders granting motions to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5). Facklam v. HSBC Bank USA, 401 P.3d 1068, 1070 (Nev. 2017) (affirming order granting motion to dismiss). The Court will affirm a dismissal when "it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle [the plaintiff] to relief." Id. (quoting Buzz Stew, L.L.C. v City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008)). In conducting its analysis, the Court presumes the facts alleged in the complaint to be true, and reviews all legal conclusions de novo. *Id.* Conclusory allegations that lack supporting factual assertions are not entitled to a presumption of truth. Jafbros, Inc. v. GEICO Indem. Co., 127 Nev. 1148, at \*1, 373 P.3d 929 (2011). The Court will "affirm the order of the district court if it reached the correct result, albeit for different reasons." Rosenstein v. Steele, 103 Nev. 571, 575, 747 P.2d 230, 233 (1987) (affirming district court's judgment); see also Munoz v. Branch Banking, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 23, 348 P.3d 689, 693 (2015) (affirming district court's ruling but applying different reasoning).

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT DISPOSED OF THE CASE ON THE PLEADINGS AS A MATTER OF LAW—NOT SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

In their Opening Brief, Plaintiffs repeatedly assert (at 10-11, 14) that the Court "must consider" the summary judgment record in evaluating the district court's order. This assertion is unsupported by the Nevada authorities cited by Plaintiffs. See, e.g., Zohar v. Zbiegien, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 74, 334 P.3d 402, 406 (2014) (explaining that, in the context of medical malpractice suits, the court should read the complaint and expert affidavits together at the motion-to-dismiss stage). Instead, Nevada precedent is clear that, in an appeal from a NRCP 12(b)(5) order, "[t]he sole issue presented . . . is whether a complaint states a claim for relief." Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 109 Nev. 842, 846, 858 P.2d 1258, The Court's "task is to 1260 (1993) (citation omitted) (emphasis added). determine whether . . . the challenged pleading sets forth allegations sufficient to make out the elements of a right to relief," and this test turns on "whether the allegations give fair notice of the nature and basis of a legally sufficient claim and the relief requested." *Id.* (citation omitted). Accordingly, the Court need not and should not consider summary judgment evidence to determine whether the district court's order dismissing Plaintiffs' claims pursuant to Rule 12(b)(5) should be affirmed.

While the Court is not limited to the four corners of the complaint on a Rule

12(b)(5) motion, it should only consider evidence unattached to the complaint if "(1) the complaint refers to the document; (2) the document is central to the plaintiff's claim; and (3) no party questions the authenticity of the document." *Baxter v. Dignity Health*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 76, 357 P.3d 927, 930 (2015) (discussing the contours of evidence appropriately considered at the motion-to-dismiss stage) (quotations and citations omitted). These factors do not apply, and the district court considered no such evidence. Accordingly, the authorities support that the evidentiary record should not be considered on appeal.

If the Court decides to review the district court's order as a summary judgment disposition (it should not), the Court will find that the allegations Plaintiffs most rely upon (which are asserted generally against "Defendants" as an undifferentiated group) do not apply to CRC. CRC served as trustee with respect to only *one* named plaintiff, Susan Kallen.<sup>4</sup> Ms. Kallen defaulted on her loan in July 2010 and has not made any subsequent payments. [RA001698; RA001702; RA001704 at 3-5; RA0001705 at 4-9] While Plaintiffs also argue (*e.g.*, at 6) that "Defendants" received "illicit fees and costs from Nevadans," Ms. Kallen admitted that she never paid a fee or cost to CRC. [RA001716 at 12-18; RA001723] While Plaintiffs also argue (*e.g.*, at 6-7) that "Defendants" illegally demanded payment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Two other plaintiffs, Thomas Moore and Kimberly Moore, initially filed suit against CRC, but they dismissed their claims against CRC with prejudice in 2016. [AA001783-89]

from, or negotiated workouts with, borrowers in default, Ms. Kallen never received any demand for payment from, or negotiated a workout with, CRC. [RA001711-12 at 47:6-48:1; RA001714-15 at 63:25-64:10] Despite having been in default for 93 months, Ms. Kallen's loan has *not* been foreclosed, and she continues to live at the property without making payments. [RA001705 at 4-9; RA001706 at 18-21; RA001707 at 7-10]

Accordingly, the vast majority of the allegations and facts discussed in the Opening Brief do not apply to Ms. Kallen, who is mentioned only once in the 63page brief (at 57). There, Plaintiffs argue that Ms. Kallen "received disturbing collection calls from CRC." [Id.] The allegation is false. Ms. Kallen actually testified that, after receiving the notice of default, "there was about a month span when I specifically received phone calls that I would not answer and voicemails that I would not respond to." [AA004797 (emphasis added] Ms. Kallen never spoke to anyone from CRC, and has no memory of the content of the voicemails she allegedly received, other than the convenient conclusion that they were for "debt collection." [AA004797-804; RA001869-70 at 29:21-30:11 (Ms. Kallen testified "I really have blocked it out" when asked about the content of the voicemails)] Significantly, Ms. Kallen testified that the calls came from a 602 (Arizona) area code; CRC has never used a phone number with that area code, nor

does it have offices in the state of Arizona. [AA004797; RA001871-72 at 36:16-37:16; RA001881, ¶ 21; RA001698; RA001897-1900; NRS 47.130]

Even ignoring that none of CRC's alleged "collection activities" apply to Ms. Kallen, the Opening Brief is devoid of factual substance—and misleading—in its discussion of those activities:

- First, Plaintiffs argue (at 57) that CRC employed staff "to collect on defaulted loans by obtaining pay-off and/or reimbursement checks from borrowers." But the deponent cited for this argument actually testified that CRC worked with the lender "to obtain the necessary quotes *requested by borrowers* to reinstate and/or pay off their loans." [AA004827 (emphasis added); AA004876 ("the only time that we would provide a payoff figure is if we were requested by the borrower")] Of course, a trustee has a statutory right to provide such information to borrowers; doing so is not "claim collection." NRS 107.0805(1)(b)(3).
- Second, contrary to Plaintiffs' argument (*e.g.*, at 6) that Defendants' allegedly "illicit" fees were added to Plaintiffs' debts, CRC testified that a borrower need *not* pay CRC any fees in order to reinstate the loan and avoid foreclosure. [AA004988-89]

- Third, contrary to Plaintiffs' argument (e.g., at 6-7) that "Defendants" illegally assisted the lender with loan modifications, CRC's former president testified that "I don't believe CRC handled any loan modifications." [AA004994]
- Finally, at all times that it performed trustee services in Nevada, CRC possessed a valid business registration, thus entitling it to perform services under Chapter 107. NRS 107.028(1)(d) (any "domestic or foreign entity which holds a current state business license" may serve as trustee under a deed of trust). [RA001657, ¶ 17; RA001779-1803]

Ms. Kallen has not asserted, and cannot assert, any viable claim against CRC.

# III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT DEFENDANTS WERE NOT REQUIRED TO BE LICENSED AS COLLECTION AGENCIES AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The first critical premise of the TAC is that Defendants were required to hold a collection agency license to perform various alleged acts in their capacity as trustees under NRS Chapter 107. [AA004088-90, ¶ 42-45, 50, 51] This assertion fails for at least three reasons. First, as part of a comprehensive regulatory system under NRS Chapter 107, the Nevada Legislature has *already decided* that a trustee need not possess a collection agency license. Second, the acts that Defendants allegedly performed do not constitute collection of a claim under NRS Chapter

649, the prescribing collection agency licensing regime. Third, the Nevada Legislature has occupied the entire field of non-judicial foreclosure regulation. Overlapping regulation of trustees by the FID Commissioner—the necessary result of holding that trustees are "collection agencies"—is thus preempted. Subjecting trustees and the non-judicial foreclosure process to *two* contradictory regulatory schemes is entirely unworkable.

## A. NRS Chapter 107 Expressly Authorizes The Trustee To Perform The Acts Alleged In The TAC.

The crux of Plaintiffs' argument is that the acts alleged in the TAC constitute claim collection under NRS Chapter 649. [AA004082-84, ¶¶ 30-31] While this is not correct (*see* Part III.B, *infra*), the argument is irrelevant because Chapter 107 authorizes *any* trustee to perform these acts without requiring the trustee to obtain a collection agency license. Thus, whether or not constituting claim collection, these acts are clearly within the scope of authority of a trustee as prescribed by the legislature in Chapter 107. The Court must read Chapter 649 together with Chapter 107 "in a way that harmonizes them as a whole." *State Dep't of Bus. & Indus., Fin. Inst. Div. v. Nevada Ass'n Servs., Inc.*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 34, 294 P.3d 1223, 1227 (2012) (FID Commissioner lacked jurisdiction to interpret real estate statutes). Dismissal in this case should be affirmed because Plaintiffs ask the Court to declare unlawful, under Chapter 649, what the

legislature has expressly authorized in Chapter 107.

1. The Legislature Created the Office of Trustee, and Has Declared That a Trustee Need Not Possess a Collection Agency License to Act in That Capacity.

A "deed of trust," unlike a mortgage, is a three-party security instrument among the trustor (usually a borrower), the beneficiary (usually a lender), and a sui generis entity called the "trustee." Ho v. ReconTrust Co., N.A., 858 F.3d 568, 570 (9th Cir. 2017) (affirming dismissal of claims against trustee), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 504 (2017). The function of the trustee is to hold legal title to the borrower's property as security for the obligations owed to the lender. NRS 107.020 ("Transfers in trust of any estate in real property may be made . . . to secure the performance of an obligation or the payment of any debt"); Snyder v. HSBC Bank, USA, N.A., 873 F. Supp. 2d 1139, 1148 (D. Ariz. 2012) (borrower "transfers legal title in real property to the trustee (legal title holder) as security for the performance . . . of obligations to the beneficiary (lender)"). The trustee is empowered either to re-convey legal title to the borrower upon full satisfaction of the secured obligation, or to sell the property at auction if the borrower defaults on the obligation. Siegel v. American Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 258 Cal. Rptr. 746, 747 (Ct. App. 1989) ("The trustee holds title to the property until the debt is repaid, at which time the title held by the trustee is reconveyed to the borrower"); Ho, 858 F.3d at 570 (trustee "is authorized to sell the property if the debtor defaults").

Thus, as the district court properly found, "[t]he deed of trust is, by itself, a protected property right and confers legal title to the subject property upon the trustee, which title is a real property interest in the subject property." [AA005651, ¶ 12]

The office of trustee, like the entire deed of trust system, is created by statute. NRS Chapter 107 prescribes the contours of trustee activity exhaustively. Under Chapter 107, the trustee is not a typical common-law trustee with fiduciary obligations to the beneficiary. Rather, the trustee serves as a type of "common agent" of the lender and the borrower, strictly for the purposes enumerated in the deed of trust. NRS 107.028(6) ("The trustee does not have a fiduciary obligation to the grantor or any other person having an interest in the property which is subject to the deed of trust"); id. (trustee "shall act impartially and in good faith with respect to the deed of trust and shall act in accordance with the laws of this State"); Harlow v. MTC Fin., Inc., 865 F. Supp. 2d 1095, 1100 (D. Nev. 2012) (trustee viewed "as a common agent for the grantor and the beneficiary"). The legislature also has clarified that the beneficiary of a deed of trust may not serve as its own trustee. NRS 107.028(2). In other words, the deed of trust must be a three-party instrument; there is no way to avoid engaging the services of a qualified trustee.

Having created the sui generis office of trustee, the legislature is privileged

to determine who may hold that office. As the district court correctly recognized, "NRS 107 is not silent on licensing." [A005651, ¶ 11] The legislature made that determination in NRS 107.028, which adopts a broad list of 10 credentials one may possess in order to serve as trustee. NRS 107.028 provides that "the trustee under a deed of trust must be:"

- (a) An attorney licensed to practice law in this State;
- (b) A title insurer or title agent authorized to do business in this State pursuant to chapter 692A of NRS;
- (c) A person licensed pursuant to chapter 669 of NRS;
- (d) A domestic or foreign entity which holds a current state business license issued by the Secretary of State pursuant to chapter 76 of NRS;
- (e) A person who does business under the laws of this State, the United States or another state relating to banks, savings banks, savings and loan associations or thrift companies;
- (f) A person who is appointed as a fiduciary pursuant to NRS 662.245;
- (g) A person who acts as a registered agent for a domestic or foreign corporation, limited-liability company, limited partnership or limited-liability partnership;
- (h) A person who acts as a trustee of a trust holding real property for the primary purpose of facilitating any transaction with respect to real estate if he or she is not regularly engaged in the business of acting as a trustee for such trusts;
- (i) A person who engages in the business of a collection agency pursuant to chapter 649 of NRS; or

(j) A person who engages in the business of an escrow agency, escrow agent or escrow officer pursuant to the provisions of chapter 645A or 692A of NRS.

NRS 107.028(1). Among those that qualify are any "domestic or foreign entity which holds a current state business registration issued by the Secretary of State pursuant to chapter 76 of NRS." NRS 107.028(1)(d). Another category in the list is "[a] person who engages in the business of a collection agency pursuant to chapter 649 of NRS." NRS 107.028(1)(i). The disjunctive "or" in the statute separates each of the ten categories of credentials that can be used to qualify as a trustee. NRS 107.028(1). Contrary to the position advanced by Plaintiffs (at 41-44, 60-63), the use of the disjunctive "or" conclusively demonstrates that a trustee need not possess a collection agency license. Anderson v. State, 109 Nev. 1129, 1134, 865 P.2d 318, 321 (1993) (use of the disjunctive signals "one or the other, but not necessarily both" of the indicated possibilities). Had the legislature intended to require trustees to obtain a collection agency license, Chapter 107 would have included only one category of qualified trustee, not 10.

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